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March 1, 2010 
 
Ms. Kimberly Bose 
Secretary 
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 
888 First Street, N.E. 
Washington, D.C.  20426 
 
 
Re: NERC Notice of Penalty regarding Mirant Delta, LLC. 

FERC Docket No. NP10-_-000 
 
Dear Ms. Bose: 
 
The North American Electric Reliability Corporation (NERC) hereby provides this Notice of 
Penalty1

 regarding Mirant Delta, LLC (MIDE),2 NERC Registry ID# NCR05511,3
 in accordance 

with the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission’s (Commission or FERC) rules, regulations and 
orders, as well as NERC Rules of Procedure including Appendix 4C (NERC Compliance 
Monitoring and Enforcement Program (CMEP)).4

 

 
During an off-site Compliance Audit conducted on April 23, 2009 (Audit), Western Electricity 
Coordinating Council (WECC) identified a possible violation of Reliability Standards PRC-005-
1 Requirement (R) 2.1 for MIDE’s failure to maintain and test twenty relays in its Protections 
System for MIDE’s Pittsburg Unit 7 generating unit.  This Notice of Penalty is being filed with 
the Commission because, based on information from WECC, WECC and MIDE have entered 
into a Settlement Agreement to resolve all outstanding issues arising from a preliminary and non-
public assessment resulting in WECC’s determination and findings of the enforceable alleged 
violation of PRC-005-1 R2.1.  According to the Settlement Agreement, this is a Confirmed 
Violation and MIDE has agreed to the proposed penalty of eleven thousand five hundred dollars 
($11,500) to be assessed to MIDE, in addition to other remedies and actions to mitigate the 

 
1 Rules Concerning Certification of the Electric Reliability Organization; and Procedures for the Establishment, 
Approval, and Enforcement of Electric Reliability Standards (Order No. 672), III FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 31,204 
(2006); Notice of New Docket Prefix “NP” for Notices of Penalty Filed by the North American Electric Reliability 
Corporation, Docket No. RM05-30-000 (February 7, 2008).  See also 18 C.F.R. Part 39 (2008).  Mandatory 
Reliability Standards for the Bulk-Power System, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 31,242 (2007) (Order No. 693), reh’g 
denied, 120 FERC ¶ 61,053 (2007) (Order No. 693-A).  See 18 C.F.R § 39.7(c)(2). 
2 On November 13, 2009, NERC submitted a Notice of Penalty which addressed an alleged violation for Mirant 
Delta, LLC.  On December 11, 2009, FERC issued an order stating it would not engage in further review of the 
alleged violation addressed in the November 13, 2009 Notice of Penalty. 
3 Western Electricity Coordinating Council (WECC) confirmed that MIDE was included on the NERC Compliance 
Registry as a Generator Owner and Generator Operator on August 10, 2007.  As a Generator Owner, MIDE is 
subject to the requirements of NERC Reliability Standard PRC-005-1. 
4 See 18 C.F.R § 39.7(c)(2). 
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instant violation and facilitate future compliance under the terms and conditions of the 
Settlement Agreement.  Accordingly, the alleged violation identified as NERC Violation 
Tracking Identification Number WECC200901410 is being filed in accordance with the NERC 
Rules of Procedure and the CMEP.   
 
Statement of Findings Underlying the Alleged Violation 
 
This Notice of Penalty incorporates the findings and justifications set forth in the Settlement 
Agreement executed on October 6, 2009, by and between WECC and MIDE, which is included 
as Attachment b.  The details of the findings and basis for the penalty are set forth in the 
Settlement Agreement and herein.  This Notice of Penalty filing contains the basis for approval 
of the Settlement Agreement by the NERC Board of Trustees Compliance Committee (NERC 
BOTCC).  In accordance with Section 39.7 of the Commission’s regulations, 18 C.F.R. § 39.7 
(2007), NERC provides the following summary table identifying each alleged violation of a 
Reliability Standard resolved by the Settlement Agreement, as discussed in greater detail below. 
 

Region Registered Entity NOC ID 
NERC Violation 

ID 
Reliability 

Std. 
Req. 
(R) 

VRF 
Total 

Penalty 
($) 

WECC Mirant Delta, LLC NOC-393 WECC200901410 PRC-005-1 2.1 High5 11,500 

 
PRC-005-1 
The purpose of Reliability Standard PRC-005-1 is to ensure all transmission and generation 
Protection Systems6 affecting the reliability of the bulk power system (BPS) are maintained and 
tested. 
 

PRC-005-1 R2 requires each Generator Owner, such as MIDE, that owns a 
generation Protection System to provide documentation of its Protection System 
maintenance and testing program and the implementation of that program to its 
Regional Entity on request (within 30 calendar days).  The documentation of the 
program implementation must include: (R2.1) evidence Protection System 
devices were maintained and tested within the defined intervals; and (R2.2) the 
date each Protection System device was last tested/maintained.  PRC-005-1 R2 
has a “Lower” Violation Risk Factor (VRF) and its sub-requirements each have a 
“High” VRF. 

 

                                                 
5 PRC-005-1 R2 has a “Lower” Violation Risk Factor (VRF) and its sub-requirements each have a “High” VRF.  
During a final review of the standards subsequent to the March 23, 2007 filing of the Version 1 VRFs, NERC 
identified that some standards requirements were missing VRFs.  One of these was PRC-005-1 R2.1.  On May 4, 
2007, NERC assigned PRC-005-1 R2.1 a “High” VRF.  In the Commission’s June 26, 2007 Order on Violation Risk 
Factors, the Commission approved the PRC-005-1 R2.1 “High” VRF as filed.  Therefore, the “High” VRF was in 
effect from June 26, 2007.   
6 The NERC Glossary of Terms Used in Reliability Standards, updated April 20, 2009, defines Protection System as 
“Protective relays, associated communication systems, voltage and current sensing devices, station batteries and DC 
control circuitry.” 
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During the Audit, the WECC Audit Team (Audit Team) reviewed MIDE’s documentation of its 
generation Protection System maintenance and testing program, MIDE’s PPP-Protection System 
Relays-PRC-005 documentation, implementation of the program and a summary spreadsheet 
listing all the Protection System devices associated with MIDE’s five generating units.  The 
summary list included previous calibration dates, the most recent calibration date, previous 
testing dates, and the most recent test date of each protective device, including relays, voltage 
and current sensing devices, station batteries, DC control circuitry and associated communication 
system.    
 
MIDE’s PPP-Protection System Relays-PRC-005 showed that MIDE tested relays for MIDE’s 
Pittsburg Unit 7 generator in March of 2009, but did not list dates for previous functional testing 
results.  As a result, the Audit Team contacted MIDE to request additional evidence of previous 
functional testing on Pittsburg Unit 7’s relays.  On April 23, 2009, the Audit Team interviewed 
MIDE's Director of Operations and MIDE's Compliance Administrator, and asked them to 
provide WECC with log book entries or maintenance logs that evidenced MlDE's past functional 
testing of the Pittsburg Unit 7 relays.  Subsequently, MIDE could not provide documentation of 
previous functional testing on Pittsburg Unit 7 but determined that it probably occurred in 
January 2003.  As a result, the Audit Team determined that MIDE had a possible violation of 
PRC-005- l R2, specifically PRC-005-l R2.l. 
 
WECC’s Enforcement Department (Enforcement) reviewed MIDE's documentation and the 
Audit findings.  Enforcement determined that MIDE had failed to document that it had 
maintained and tested its Protection System relays on Pittsburg Unit 7 within defined intervals.  
Twenty relays are associated with MIDE's Pittsburg Unit 7 generating unit.  MIDE owns and 
operates 104 Protection System relays across five generating units so MIDE was missing 
evidence that it had maintained and tested its Protection System relays for 19% of its total 
generation Protection System’s relays. 
 
Enforcement concluded that MIDE had an alleged violation of PRC-005-1 R2.1 from August 10, 
2007, the date MIDE was included on the NERC Registry, through March 31, 2009, the date that 
MIDE completed its Mitigation Plan.   
 
Regional Entity’s Basis for Penalty 
According to the Settlement Agreement, WECC has assessed a penalty of eleven thousand five 
hundred dollars ($11,500) for the referenced alleged violation.  In reaching this determination, 
WECC considered the following factors:  

(1) this violation constituted MIDE’s first occurrence of violation of the instant NERC 
Reliability Standard PRC-005-1 R2.1;  

(2) MIDE's Pittsburg Unit 7 is a 682 MW generator connected to the transmission system at 
230 kV.  If a protective device, such as a relay, operated incorrectly the generator could 
inadvertently trip.  For this reason, although WECC determined that the alleged violation 
did not create a serious or substantial risk to the BPS, WECC determined that it did pose 
a moderate risk to the reliability of the BPS; 

(3) MIDE was cooperative throughout the compliance enforcement process; and  
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(4) there was no evidence of intent or of any attempt to conceal the violation. 
 
After consideration of these and the above factors, WECC determined that, in this instance, the 
penalty amount of eleven thousand five hundred dollars ($11,500) is appropriate and bears a 
reasonable relation to the seriousness and duration of the alleged violation.   
 
Status of Mitigation Plan7

 

 
PRC-005-1 R2.1 
MIDE’s Mitigation Plan to address its alleged violation of PRC-005-1 R2.1 was submitted to 
WECC on July 16, 2009, stating it had been completed in March 2009.8  The Mitigation Plan 
was accepted by WECC on September 2, 2009 and approved by NERC on September 11, 2009.  
The Mitigation Plan for this alleged violation is designated as MIT-07-1960 and was submitted 
as non-public information to FERC on September 11, 2009 in accordance with FERC orders. 
 
MIDE’s Mitigation Plan stated that MIDE had performed the necessary functional testing of the 
generator protective relays on Pittsburg Unit 7 during the scheduled March 2009 unit outage.   
 
On July 16, 2009, MIDE certified that its Mitigation Plan was completed as of March 2009.  As 
evidence of completion of its Mitigation Plan, MIDE submitted a document titled PPP U7-
Functional Test-Mar-2009, which stated that MIDE had performed and documented functional 
testing for the Pittsburg Unit 7 generator protective relays as part of MIDE’s unit outage work in 
March 2009.   
 
On September 3, 2009, after WECC’s review of MIDE’s submitted evidence, WECC verified 
that MIDE’s Mitigation Plan was completed as of March 31, 2009 and notified MIDE in a letter 
dated September 22, 2009 that MIDE was in compliance with PRC-005-1 R2.1. 
 
Statement Describing the Proposed Penalty, Sanction or Enforcement Action Imposed9 
 

Basis for Determination 
 
Taking into consideration the Commission’s direction in Order No. 693, the NERC Sanction 
Guidelines and the Commission’s July 3, 2008 Guidance Order,10 the NERC BOTCC reviewed 
the Settlement Agreement and supporting documentation on February 10, 2010.  The NERC 
BOTCC approved the Settlement Agreement, including WECC’s imposition of a financial 
penalty, assessing a penalty of eleven thousand five hundred dollars ($11,500) against MIDE and 
other actions to facilitate future compliance required under the terms and conditions of the 
Settlement Agreement.  In approving the Settlement Agreement, the NERC BOTCC reviewed 
the applicable requirements of the Commission-approved Reliability Standards and the 
underlying facts and circumstances of the alleged violation at issue. 

                                                 
7 See 18 C.F.R § 39.7(d)(7). 
8 The Mitigation Plan did not specify a date. 
9 See 18 C.F.R § 39.7(d)(4). 
10 North American Electric Reliability Corporation, “Guidance Order on Reliability Notices of Penalty,” 124 FERC 
¶ 61,015 (2008). 
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In reaching this determination, the NERC BOTCC considered the following factors:   

(1) The alleged violation constituted MIDE’s first occurrence of violations of the instant 
NERC Reliability Standard; 

(2) WECC reported MIDE was cooperative throughout the compliance enforcement process;  

(3) there was no evidence of intent nor of any attempt to conceal the violations; and 

(4) although WECC determined that the alleged violation posed a moderate risk, it did not 
create a serious or substantial risk to the reliability of the BPS, as discussed above. 

 
For the foregoing reasons, the NERC BOTCC approves the Settlement Agreement and believes 
that the proposed penalty of eleven thousand five hundred dollars ($11,500) is appropriate for the 
violation and circumstances in question, and is consistent with NERC’s goal to promote and 
ensure reliability of the BPS. 
 
Pursuant to Order No. 693, the penalty will be effective upon expiration of the 30 day period 
following the filing of this Notice of Penalty with FERC, or, if FERC decides to review the 
penalty, upon final determination by FERC. 
 
Attachments to be Included as Part of this Notice of Penalty 
 

The attachments to be included as part of this Notice of Penalty are the following documents and 
material: 

a) WECC Audit Report, Public Version Screen Shot, for PRC-005-1 R2.1, included as 
Attachment a; 

b) Settlement Agreement by and between MIDE and WECC, executed October 6, 2009, 
included as Attachment b; 

c) MIDE’s Mitigation Plan designated as MIT-07-1960 for the alleged violation of PRC-
005-1 R2.1 dated July 16, 2009, included as Attachment c; 

d) MIDE’s Certification of Completion of Mitigation Plan MIT-07-1960 for the alleged 
violation of PRC-005-1 R2.1 dated July 16, 2009, included as Attachment d; and 

e) WECC’s Verification of Completion of Mitigation Plan MIT-07-1960 dated September 
22, 2009, included as Attachment e. 

 
A Form of Notice Suitable for Publication11

 
 

A copy of a notice suitable for publication is included in Attachment f. 
 

 
11 See 18 C.F.R § 39.7(d)(6). 
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Conclusion 
 
NERC respectfully requests that the Commission accept this Notice of Penalty as compliant with 
its rules, regulations and orders. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

  /s/ Rebecca J. Michael 
Gerald W. Cauley 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
David N. Cook 
Vice President and General Counsel 
North American Electric Reliability Corporation 
116-390 Village Boulevard 
Princeton, N.J. 08540-5721 
(609) 452-8060 
(609) 452-9550 – facsimile 
gerry.cauley@nerc.net 
david.cook@nerc.net 
 

Rebecca J. Michael 
Assistant General Counsel 
Holly A. Hawkins 
Attorney 
North American Electric Reliability 

Corporation 
1120 G Street, N.W. 
Suite 990 
Washington, D.C. 20005-3801 
(202) 393-3998 
(202) 393-3955 – facsimile 
rebecca.michael@nerc.net 
holly.hawkins@nerc.net 

 
 
cc: Mirant Delta, LLC 
 Western Electricity Coordinating Council 
 
Attachments 
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Attachment e 
 

WECC’s Verification of Completion of Mitigation 
Plan MIT-07-1960 dated September 22, 2009 



            CONFIDENTIAL 

W E S T E R N  E L E C T R I C I T Y  C O O R D I N A T I N G  C O U N C I L  •  W W W . W E C C . B I Z
6 1 5  A R A P E E N  D R I V E  •  S U I T E  2 1 0  •  S A L T  L A K E  C I T Y  •  U T A H  •  8 4 1 0 8 - 1 2 6 2  •  P H  8 0 1 . 5 8 2 . 0 3 5 3  •  F X  8 0 1 . 5 8 2 . 3 9 1 8

         September 22, 2009

Kandi Forte 
Director of Operations 
Mirant Delta, LLC 
1155 Perimeter Center West 
Atlanta, Georgia 30338 

NERC Registration ID: NCR05511 

Subject:  Certification of Completion Response Letter 

Dear Kandi Forte, 

The Western Electricity Coordinating Council (WECC) received the Certification of 
Completion and supporting evidence of Mirant Delta, LLC (MIDE) on 8/14/2009 for the 
alleged violation of Reliability Standard PRC-005-1 Requirement 2.1.

WECC has accepted the Certification of Completion for Requirement 2.1 of the 
Reliability Standard PRC-005-1 and have found this requirement to be fully mitigated.  
No further mitigation of this requirement will be required at this time. 

If you have any questions or concerns, please contact Phil O'Donnell at 
podonnell@wecc.biz. Thank you for your assistance in this effort. 

 Sincerely, 
 Laura Scholl
 Laura Scholl 
 Managing Director of Compliance 

LS:ki
cc: Enrique Carbia, MIDE NERC Compliance Manager 
 Lisa Milanes, WECC Manager of Compliance Program Administration 
 Phil O'Donnell, WECC Senior Compliance Engineer

Laura Scholl
Managing Director of Compliance

801.819.7619 
lscholl@wecc.biz
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Attachment f 
 

Notice of Filing 

 



UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
FEDERAL ENERGY REGULATORY COMMISSION 

 
 
Mirant Delta, LLC      Docket No. NP10-___-000 
 

NOTICE OF FILING 
March 1, 2010 

 
Take notice that on March 1, 2010, the North American Electric Reliability 

Corporation (NERC) filed a Notice of Penalty regarding Mirant Delta, LLC in the 
Western Electricity Coordinating Council region. 
 

Any person desiring to intervene or to protest this filing must file in accordance 
with Rules 211 and 214 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure (18 CFR 
385.211, 385.214).  Protests will be considered by the Commission in determining the 
appropriate action to be taken, but will not serve to make protestants parties to the 
proceeding.  Any person wishing to become a party must file a notice of intervention or 
motion to intervene, as appropriate.  Such notices, motions, or protests must be filed on 
or before the comment date.  On or before the comment date, it is not necessary to serve 
motions to intervene or protests on persons other than the Applicant. 

 
The Commission encourages electronic submission of protests and interventions 

in lieu of paper using the “eFiling” link at http://www.ferc.gov.  Persons unable to file 
electronically should submit an original and 14 copies of the protest or intervention to the 
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, 888 First Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20426. 
 

This filing is accessible on-line at http://www.ferc.gov, using the “eLibrary” link 
and is available for review in the Commission’s Public Reference Room in Washington, 
D.C.  There is an “eSubscription” link on the web site that enables subscribers to receive 
email notification when a document is added to a subscribed docket(s).  For assistance 
with any FERC Online service, please email FERCOnlineSupport@ferc.gov, or call 
(866) 208-3676 (toll free).  For TTY, call (202) 502-8659. 
 
Comment Date: [BLANK] 
 
 

Kimberly D. Bose, 
Secretary 
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